
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Samantha Lawton 
 
Governance and Commissioning 
 

PO Box 1720  
 

Huddersfield 
 

 

HD1 9EL 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Andrea Woodside 
 

Email: governance.planning@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Wednesday 2 July 2025 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

District-Wide Planning Committee 
 

The District-Wide Planning Committee will meet in the Council Chamber - 
Town Hall, Huddersfield at 1.00 pm on Thursday 10 July 2025. 
 
(A coach will depart the Town Hall, at 11.30am to undertake Site Visits. The consideration 
of Planning Applications will commence at 1.00 pm in Huddersfield Town Hall.) 
 
This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view via the Council’s website. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Samantha Lawton 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

The District-Wide Planning Committee:- 
 

 
When a Member of the District-Wide Planning Committee cannot attend the meeting, a 
member of the Substitutes Panel (below) may attend in their place in accordance with the 
provision of Council Procedure Rule 35(7). 
 

Substitutes Panel 
 
Conservative 
B Armer 
D Hall 
J Taylor 
C Holt 
M Thompson

Green 
K Allison 
A Cooper

Labour 
M Ahmed 
J Homewood 
B Addy 
M Crook 
J Rylah 
A Sewell 
H McCarthy 

Liberal 
Democrat 
A Munro 
A Pinnock 
C Burke 
J Lawson 
D Longstaff 
A Marchington 
A Robinson 
A Smith 

Community 
Alliance 
C Scott 
A Zaman 
A Anwar 

Kirklees 
Community 
Independents 
JD Lawson 
A Arshad 

 

Member 
Councillor Sheikh Ullah (Chair) 
Councillor Donna Bellamy 
Councillor Paola Antonia Davies 
Councillor Eric Firth 
Councillor Susan Lee-Richards 
Councillor Tony McGrath 
Councillor Paul Moore 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 
Councillor Zahid Kahut 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 
To receive any apologies for absence or notice of substitutions.  

 
 

 

 

2:   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
To approve the Minutes of the Meeting of the Committee held on 13 
March 2025. 

 
 

1 - 2 

 

3:   Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
 
Committee Members will advise (i) if there are any items on the 
Agenda upon which they have been lobbied and/or (ii) if there are 
any items on the Agenda in which they have a Disposable Pecuniary 
Interest, which would prevent them from participating in any 
discussion or vote on an item, or any other interests. 

 
 

3 - 4 

 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most agenda items will be considered in public session, however, it 
shall be advised whether the Committee will consider any matters in 
private, by virtue of the reports containing information which falls 
within a category of exempt information as contained at Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
 

 

 

5:   Public Question Time 
 
To receive any public questions. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. 
 
Any questions must be submitted in writing at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting. 

 
 

 

 
 
 



 

 

6:   Deputations / Petitions 
 
To receive any public questions. 
  
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. 
 
Any questions must be submitted in writing at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting. 

 
 

 

 

7:   Site Visit - Application No: 2023/92023 
 
Change of use from general industry B2 to storage and distribution 
B8 Z A Enterprises Ltd at 4 Marsh Gardens, Honley. 
 
Ward affected: Holme Valley North 
 
Contact: John Holmes, Planning Services  
 
(Estimated time of arrival at site – 11:45am) 

 
 

 

 

8:   Planning Applications 
 
The Planning Committee will consider the attached schedule of 
Planning Applications.     
 
Please note that any members of the public who wish to speak at the 
meeting must register to speak by 5.00pm (for phone requests) or 
11:59pm (for email requests) on Monday 7 July 2025. 
 
To register, please email andrea.woodside@kirklees.gov.uk or 
phone the Governance Team on 01484 221000 (ext 74993). 

 
 

5 - 6 

 

9:   Planning Application - Application No: 2023/92023 
 
Change of use from general industry B2 to storage and distribution 
B8 Z A Enterprises Ltd at 4 Marsh Gardens, Honley. 
 
Ward affected: Holme Valley North 
 
Contact: John Holmes, Planning Services  

 
 

7 - 22 

 

Planning Update 
 

 

An update report providing further information on matters raised after the publication of the 
agenda will be added to the online agenda prior to the meeting. 



 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

DISTRICT-WIDE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 13th March 2025 
 
Present: Councillor Sheikh Ullah (Chair) 
 Councillor Donna Bellamy 

Councillor Paola Antonia Davies 
Councillor Eric Firth 
Councillor J D Lawson 
Councillor Susan Lee-Richards 
Councillor Tony McGrath 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 

 
1 Membership of the Committee 

Councillor J D Lawson substituted for Councillor Arshad. 
 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the Meeting held on 23 January 2025 be 
approved as a correct record.  
 

3 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
Councillor Ullah advised that he had been lobbied on Application 2024/92936. 
 
Councillor Lee-Richards declared an ‘other’ interest in Application 2024/92936 on 
that grounds that she had worked with the architect of the scheme on a community 
project. 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
It was noted that all agenda items would be considered in public session. 
 

5 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked. 
 

6 Deputations / Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 
 

7 Site Visit - Planning Application No: 2024/92936 
Site visit undertaken.  
 

8 Site Visit - Planning Application No: 2022/93731 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

9 Planning Application - Application No: 2022/93731 
The Committee gave consideration to Application 2022/93731 – Partial demolition 
and alterations to convert public house to 4 residential units at the Woolpack Inn, 
Whitley Road, Dewsbury.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



District-Wide Planning Committee -  13 March 2025 
 

2 
 

Under the provision of Council Procedure Rule 37 the Committee received a 
representation from Ray Parker (applicant). 
 
RESOLVED – That authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Development to approve the application, issue the decision notice and complete the 
list of conditions including matters relating to; 
 

- timescale for commencement of development 
- development to be completed in full accordance with plans 
- facing and roofing materials / stone walls in keeping with existing 
- reporting of any unexpected land contamination 
- boundary treatment 
- nothing to be planted / erected within two meters of access 
- parking surfacing and drainage 
- storage provision / collection 
- pre-demolition dusk emergence bat survey 

 
A recorded vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42(5) as 
follows: 
For: Councillors Bellamy, Davies, Firth, J D Lawson, Lee-Richards, McGrath, Sokhal 
and Ullah (8 votes) 
Against: (no votes) 
 

10 Planning Application - Application No: 2024/92936 
The Committee gave consideration to Application 2024/92936 – Erection of 
detached dwelling (within Conservation Area) at land adjacent to the Silent Woman 
Pub, Nabbs Lane, Slaithwaite.   
 
Under the provision of Council Procedure Rule 37 the Committee received a 
representation from Mark Lee (applicant’s agent). 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 36(3), the Sub-Committee received 
a representations from Councillor Addy and Councillors McLoughlin (local 
members). 
 
RESOLVED –  

1) That, contrary to the Officer’s recommendation, the application be approved, 
with conditions of approval delegated to Officers. 
 

2) That, pursuant to (1) above, the list of conditions shall include (i) a 
requirement for construction in natural stone and (ii) the provision of bat 
boxes.  

 
A recorded vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42(5) as 
follows: 
For: Councillors Bellamy, Davies, Firth, J D Lawson, Lee-Richards, McGrath and 
Sokhal (7 votes) 
Against: (no votes) 
Abstained: Councillor Ullah 
 

Page 2



 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS AND LOBBYING 

District Wide Planning Committee 

Name of Councillor 

Item in which 

you have an 

interest 

Type of interest (eg a  

disclosable pecuniary  

interest or an “Other  

Interest”) 

Does the nature of the interest require you to 

withdraw from the meeting while the item in which 

you have an interest is under consideration? [Y/N] 

Brief description 
of your interest 

        

        

LOBBYING 

Date Application/Page 

No. 
Lobbied By  

(Name of  

person) 

Applicant Objector Supporter Action taken / 

Advice given 

              

              

              

 

Signed:   ................................................................. Dated: 

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 3



NOTES 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable pecuniary interests under the new national rules. Any reference 
to spouse or civil partner includes any person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or as if they were your civil partner. 

Any employment, office, trade, profession, or vocation carried on for profit or gain, which you, or your spouse or civil partner, undertakes. 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period 
in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. 

Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, 
has a beneficial interest) and your council or authority - 

 under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
 which has not been fully discharged. 

Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, have and which is within the area of your council or authority. 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council 
or authority for a month or longer. 

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - the landlord is your council or authority; and the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or 
your civil partner, has a beneficial interest. 

Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in securities of a body where - 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of your council or authority; and 
(b) either - 

the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 
if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

Lobbying 

If you are approached by any Member of the public in respect of an application on the agenda you must declare that you have been lobbied. A 
declaration of lobbying does not affect your ability to participate in the consideration or determination of the application. 

P
age 4



In respect of the consideration of all the planning applications on this agenda the 
following information applies: 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
The statutory development plan is the starting point in the consideration of planning 
applications for the development or use of land unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise (Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  
 
The statutory Development Plan for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 27th February 
2019) and the Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan (adopted 8th December 
2021).  
 
National Policy/ Guidelines  
 
National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy Statements, primarily 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published 20th December 2023 the 
Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS) first launched 6th March 2014 together with 
Circulars, Ministerial Statements and associated technical guidance.  
 
The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is a material 
consideration in determining applications. 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Cabinet agreed the Development Management Charter in July 2015. This sets out how 
people and organisations will be enabled and encouraged to be involved in the 
development management process relating to planning applications. 
 

The applications have been publicised by way of press notice, site notice and neighbour 
letters (as appropriate) in accordance with the Development Management Charter and 
in full accordance with the requirements of regulation, statute and national guidance.  
 
EQUALITY ISSUES   
 
The Council has a general duty under section 149 Equality Act 2010 to have due regard 
to eliminating conduct that is prohibited by the Act, advancing equality of opportunity 
and fostering good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share that characteristic. The relevant protected characteristics are: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 sex; 

 sexual orientation. 
 

In the event that a specific development proposal has particular equality implications, 
the report will detail how the duty to have “due regard” to them has been discharged. 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 8



 
HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
The Council has had regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, and in particular:-  
 

 Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life.  
 

 Article 1 of the First Protocol - Right to peaceful enjoyment of property and 
possessions.   

 
The Council considers that the recommendations within the reports are in accordance 
with the law, proportionate and both necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of 
others and in the public interest.  
 
PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 
 
Paragraph 55 of The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that Local 
Planning Authorities consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be 
made acceptable through the use of planning condition or obligations.   
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) stipulates that 
planning obligations (also known as section 106 agreements – of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990) should only be sought where they meet all of the following tests: 
 

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 

 directly related to the development; and 
 

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
The NPPF and further guidance in the PPGS, launched on 6th March 2014, require that 
planning conditions should only be imposed where they meet a series of key tests; these 
are in summary: 

1. necessary; 

2. relevant to planning and; 

3. to the development to be permitted; 

4. enforceable; 

5. precise and; 

6. reasonable in all other respects 

 
Recommendations made with respect to the applications brought before the 
Planning Committee have been made in accordance with the above requirements. 

Page 6



 

 
 
 
 
Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
 
DISTRICT-WIDE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Date: 10-Jul-2025 

Subject: Planning Application 2023/92023 Change of use from general industry 
B2 to storage and distribution B8 Z A Enterprises Ltd, 4, Marsh Gardens, 
Honley, Holmfirth, HD9 6AP 

 
APPLICANT 

M Zulqarneyn 

 
DATE VALID TARGET DATE EXTENSION EXPIRY DATE 

18-Jan-2024 14-Mar-2024 29-Jul-2025 

 

 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at planning 
committees, including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 
 
Public speaking at committee link--------------------------------------------------------------------
----------------- 
LOCATION PLAN  

 

 
 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
  

Originator: John Holmes 
 
Tel: 01484 221000 

Page 7

Agenda Item 9

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/pdf/public-speaking-committee.pdf


 
Electoral wards affected: Holme Valley North 
 
Ward Councillors consulted: No   
 
Public or private: Public 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
DELEGATE approval of the application and the issuing of the decision notice to the 
Head of Planning and Development in order to complete the list of conditions including 
those contained within this report  
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION: 
 
1.1 This application is brought to committee at the request of Ward Councillor 

Donna Bellamy for the following reasons:  
 

‘Local concerns, particularly relating to the impact of commercial vehicle 
movements in a predominantly residential area. The proposed use could lead 
to highway safety issues and disruption due to the presence of larger delivery 
vehicles, which is especially concerning given the proximity to a local doctor’s 
surgery and the general residential character of the area. These concerns relate 
to material planning considerations, including residential amenity, highway 
safety, and the appropriateness of the proposed use in this location.’ 

 
1.2 The Chair of the Sub-Committee has confirmed that the reasons for the referral 

to the committee by Councillor Donna Bellamy are valid having regard to the 
Councillor’s Protocol for Planning Committees. 

 
2.0 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS: 
 
2.1 The application site refers to an industrial building, located at Marsh Gardens, 

Honley. Access to the industrial building is off the highway of Marsh Gardens, 
via an unadopted highway. The premises was previously used by an 
engineering business and then by a bakery.  

 
2.2 This application is retrospective, the current operation of the building is by Z A 

Enterprises, that sells household goods via the internet. The premises is used 
to store / distribute the goods.   

 
2.3 The site is located approximately 75 metres from Honley District Centre.  
 
2.4 Public footpath HOL/27/20 runs via the unadopted highway to the south-west 

of the site.  
 
3.0 PROPOSAL: 
 
3.1 Planning permission is sought for the change of use of the site from general 

industry (use class B2) to storage and distribution (use class B8).  
 

Page 8



3.2 This is a retrospective planning application; the building was previously used 
by an engineering business and then by a bakery. It is now used by a business 
that sells household goods through the internet.  

 
3.3 Goods are delivered to the premises by wagons that visit the site two or three 

times a week, and then goods are delivered to the customers with five or six 
courier vans leaving the premises a day. The site has its own customer parking 
and a delivery bay to the front of the building.  

 
3.4 This application does not include any external alterations to the building or 

wider site.  
 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including enforcement history): 
 

4.1 Whilst there is planning history at the site, it all pre-dates the year 2000, 
encompassing applications from the 1980s and 1990s and relate to extensions 
/ alterations of the building at the site and the use for general industrial 
purposes. As such the planning history is considered to be of limited weight in 
the determination of this current planning application, other than confirming the 
established use of B2 (general industry).  

 
4.2 It is considered the established use of the site for general industrial purposes 

is a factor which is afforded weight in the consideration of this application.  
 

5.0 HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS (including revisions to the scheme): 
 

5.1 Within their initial consultation response KC Highways Development 
Management set out that they required further information be submitted in 
relation to up-to-date car park capacity information and swept paths.  

 
5.2 Further information was submitted, specifically the following:  
 

- HGV tracking plan (ref: 0001A)  
- Access Statement (ref: 2328)  

 
5.3 It is noted that upon the original submission, the site was given the address: 

Propermaid Ltd, however, the agent confirmed that this was the previous tenant 
on the site and was an error on their part. The address was subsequently 
changed to Z A Enterprises Ltd.  

 
6.0 PLANNING POLICY: 
 
6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires  that 

planning applications are determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The statutory Development 
Plan for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 27th February 2019) and the Holme 
Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan (adopted 8th December 2021).  

 
6.2 The site is located approximately 75 metres from Honley District Centre. Public 

footpath HOL/27/20 runs via the unadopted highway which leads to the site.   
 
6.3 The application site is located within the Holme Valley Corridor Strategic Green 

Infrastructure Network and within an area with a known presence of bats.  
 

Page 9



6.4 The application site is located upon potentially contaminated land.  The 
application site is located within an area identified by the Coal Authority as being 
at low risk of ground movement as a result of former mining activity. 

 
6.5 The application site is located just outside of the boundaries of the Honley 

Conservation Area. Given that this planning application seeks permission for 
the change of use of the application site, with no external alterations proposed, 
it is not considered that any further assessment of heritage impacts is 
necessary in this instance.  

 
6.6 The following are considered relevant to the determination of this application:  
 
Kirklees Local Plan:  
 

 LP1 – Achieving Sustainable Development  
 LP2 – Place Shaping  
 LP7 – Efficient and Effective Use of Land and Buildings  
 LP21 – Highways and Access  
 LP22 – Parking 
 LP23 – Core Walking and Cycling Network   
 LP24 – Design  
 LP30 – Biodiversity & Geodiversity  
 LP31 – Strategic Green Infrastructure Network  
 LP51 – Protection and Improvement of Local Air Quality  
 LP52 – Protection and Improvement of Environmental Quality  
 LP53 – Contaminated and Unstable Land  

 
Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan:  
 
6.7 The Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan was adopted on 8th 

December 2021 and therefore forms part of the Development Plan. The site 
falls within Local Characteristic Area 6 - Honley Village Centre. Key landscape 
characteristics of LCA6 are:  

 
 Wooded valleys associated with Mag Brook and Magdale.  
 Glimpsed views of a wider rural backdrop are often framed by built form. The 

sloping topography creates a strong connection between the centre of Honley 
and the wider agricultural setting with strong visual links up to Oldfield. The area 
affords long distance views to Castle Hill.  

 Stone wall field boundary treatments  
 A network of Public Rights of Way (PRoW) follows the routes of local lanes or 

field boundaries with some giving access to Mag Brook and Honley Wood 
Bottom.  

 

6.8 Key built characteristics of LCA6 are: 
 

 Honley’s historic core is dominated by 18th and 19th century stone dwellings 
with distinctive yards or folds.  

 The south-west of Honley has more eclectic architecture with largely 20th 
century residential properties in cul-de-sacs. These are generally in-keeping 
with the historic townscape due to scale and use of traditional materials.  

 Weaver’s cottages with rows of mullioned windows are found throughout area.  
 Former mill buildings associated with Mag Brook have been redeveloped for 

commercial or residential use and form local heritage features.  
Page 10



6.9 The policies from the Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan that are 
relevant to this application are: 

 

 Policy 1 – Protecting and enhancing the landscape character of Holme Valley  
 Policy 2 – Protecting and enhancing the built character of the Holme Valley and 

promoting high quality design  
 Policy 9 – Protecting and enhancing local community facilities  
 Policy 12 – Promoting sustainability  

 
National Policies and Guidance:  
 
6.10 National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy Statements, 

primarily the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published December 
2024, together with Circulars, Parliamentary Statements and associated 
technical guidance. The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning 
authorities and is a material consideration in determining applications. 

 
 Chapter 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development  
 Chapter 4 – Decision-Making  
 Chapter 8 – Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities  
 Chapter 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport  
 Chapter 12 – Achieving Well-Designed Places 
 Chapter 14 – Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and 

Coastal Change  
 Chapter 15 – Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment  

 
7.0 PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE: 

 
7.1 The application was advertised via site notice, neighbour notification letters and 

within the newspaper.  
 
7.2 Final publicity date expired: 1st March 2024.  
 
7.3 In response to publicity, 11 objections were received, and one general 

comment. The objections (and comment) raised the following concerns:  
 
Visual Amenity / Heritage Significance:  
 

 Marsh Gardens is in the Honley Conservation Area. Granting this planning 
application goes against this concept and would turn the area into a mini-
industrial estate.  

 
Residential Amenity:  
 

 The application is requesting 7am to 7pm Monday to Friday, 7am to 2pm 
Saturday and Sunday. Marsh Gardens is a No Through Road with numerous 
residents, access to the Surgery and Honley Junior and Infant school. On the 
plan provided, the block of flats immediately in front of the property and 
alongside the access road, are occupied by senior citizens. A change to the 
proposed times would be disruptive and affect these and all residents in an 
unacceptable manner. 

  

Page 11



Highway Safety:  
 

 The vehicles that have been making deliveries are large HGVs and large 
Truck and Trailer container style vehicles. They can only park and offload on 
the blue lined access road, blocking the entrance to the Surgery car park. 
Furthermore, these large vehicles have great difficulty turning into and out of 
the access road and require multiple point turns, this can take several minutes 
affecting access to the Surgery car park and the Surgery itself. Residential 
walls have been hit, and a pavement anti parking bollard was destroyed and 
subsequently had to be made good by the councils Highway Dept. Marsh 
Gardens was recently resurfaced and re-kerbed. These large vehicles are 
making their mark on the road, kerbs and pavements.  

 
 The proposition to enter Bank Bottom Works is to reverse from the doctors 

surgery which is extremely narrow and then drive down the blue marked 
entrance Bank Bottom Works because of the length of the vehicles there is 
not an alternative hence creating a dangerous situation for school children, 
patients and residents. Often the large vehicles cannot make this movement 
and are using a forklift to and from the works to the vehicle which is extremely 
dangerous and blocking the whole public way. 
 

 Deliveries to the storage facility appear to be more frequent than was 
previously the case: due to the distribution of goods from the storage facility 
the departing traffic is now more likely to occur throughout the day (and will 
potentially increase) adding to the congestion in Marsh Gardens.  
 

 Large vehicles are often parked whilst arranging delivery to the storage 
facility, impeding the use of Marsh Gardens and affecting access to adjacent 
properties, including the surgery car park. Pedestrian and road traffic are also 
affected whilst large vehicles manoeuvre into the road leading to the property, 
navigating the narrow access and sharp turns involved.  
 

 Access for emergency and other services may be affected due to the 
presence of a large delivery vehicle, either parked whilst arranging assistance 
or manoeuvring to reach the storage facility. We have emergency ambulances 
regularly coming to the Surgery.  
 

 A vehicle over the weight as outlined in the Highways response of 28th May 
accessed the site recently.  
 

 Fence has been hit by vehicles accessing the site.  
 
Address:  
 

 Covering letter and application form indicated that it is Propermaid Ltd which 
is making the application for change of use. According to Companies House 
records, this company has ceased trading and was dissolved in 2019.  

 
Publicity:  
 

 There is not a notice on Marsh Gardens or surrounding roads and only two of 
the flats in Marsh Court were sent letters.  

 

Page 12



7.4 Holme Valley Parish Council state that they support the development although 
set out that one councillor raised concerns about the plans and believes the red 
boundary line to be inaccurate.  

  
7.5 The third-party representations are addressed within the ‘Assessment’ section 

of this report.  
 
8.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES: 

 
8.1 The following consultations were undertaken as part of the application:  

 
KC Highways Development Management – Initial response received that 
the application contained insufficient information to allow a proper highway 
assessment to be undertaken. Further information requested, including swept 
paths and up-to-date car park capacity information.  

 
On receipt of this information, no objections raised subject to condition 
restricting the size of vehicles entering and exiting the site. 

 
KC Environmental Health – There are residential premises in the immediate 
area and therefore, recommend a condition for the submission of a noise 
management plan and to control the hours of use.  

 
KC Crime Prevention – Advise they have no comments to make due to the 
application being a change a use and retrospective.  

 
8.2 The responses received are discussed in greater detail in section 10 of this 

report.  
 
9.0 MAIN ISSUES 
 

 Principle of development 
 Visual Amenity  
 Residential amenity 
 Highway issues 
 Other matters 
 Representations  
 Conclusion  

 
10.0 APPRAISAL 
 

Principle of development 
 

10.1 Chapter 2 of the NPPF states that: “Planning policies and decisions should play 
an active role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions…”  

 
10.2 Chapter 2 of the NPPF goes onto further state that objectives should: “support 

strong, vibrant and healthy communities, providing the supply of housing 
required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering 
a well-designed and safe built environment…” 

 
10.3 In line with the NPPF, Policy LP1 of the Kirklees Local Plan (KLP) declares that: 

“…the council will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development contained in the NPPF.” 

Page 13



10.4 Policy LP1 goes further and states: “The council will always work pro-actively 
with applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals can be 
approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area.” 

 
10.5 Policy LP2 sets out that all development proposals should seek to build on the 

strengths, opportunities and help address challenges identified in the Local 
Plan. Policy LP24 of the KLP is relevant and states that “good design should 
be at the core of all proposals in the district”. 

 
10.6 The development has seen the existing employment use of the site (general 

industry) continue within another identified employment use (storage and 
distribution). It is considered that, having regard to the current established use 
of the site, the principle of the use of the site for storage and distribution 
purposes only is acceptable in this case. It is recommended that any approval 
restricts the use of the site to that as applied for, and any ancillary offices, for 
the avoidance of doubt and to ensure no town centre uses are introduced in an 
out-of-town centre location.  

 
Visual Amenity  

 
10.7 The NPPF offers guidance relating to design in chapter 12. Kirklees Local Plan 

policies LP1, LP2 and significantly LP24 all also seek to achieve good quality, 
visually attractive, sustainable design to correspond with the scale of 
development in the local area, thus retaining a sense of local identity. 

 
10.8 LP24 states that proposals should promote good design by ensuring: 
 

- ‘a. the form, scale, layout and details of all development respects and 
enhances the character of the townscape, heritage assets and landscape…’ 

 
10.9 Policy 1 of the Holme Valley Neighbourhood Plan HVNP sets out that 

development proposal should demonstrate how they have been informed by 
the key characteristics of the Local Character Assessment, in this case Local 
Characteristic Area 6 – Honley Village Centre.  

 
10.10 Policy 2 of the Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan states that new 

development should protect and enhance local built character and 
distinctiveness, strengthen the local sense of place by respecting the existing 
grain of development in the surrounding area, use local materials and detailing 
which add to the quality or character of the surrounding environment, respect 
the scale, mass, height and form of existing buildings in the locality and their 
setting. 

 
10.11 To ensure the impact of external storage does not detract from the visual 

amenities of the locality, a condition is recommended to be included which 
requires that no external storage is undertaken.  

 

10.12 No external alterations are proposed to the building or wider site as part of the 
change of use to storage / distribution. As such, visually, the development is not 
considered to impact upon the character and or setting of the site, both within 
its immediate context and when viewed within the wider street scene. As such, 
the development is considered to appropriately comply with Policy LP24 of the 
Kirklees Local Plan, Policies 1 and 2 of the Holme Valley Neighbourhood 
Development Plan and the policies contained within Chapter 12 of the NPPF.  

Page 14



Residential Amenity 
 

10.13 Section B and C of LP24 states that alterations to existing buildings should: 
“…maintain appropriate distances between buildings’ and ‘…minimise impact 
on residential amenity of future and neighbouring occupiers.” 

 
10.14 Policy LP52 states that proposals which have the potential to increase pollution 

from, amongst other things, noise must include suitable and sustainable 
mitigation measures to protect the quality of life and well-being of people. 

 
10.15 Policy 2 of the Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan states that 

‘designs should respect the scale, mass, height and form of existing buildings 
in the locality and the site setting. Development should fit in with and neither 
dominate nor have a detrimental impact on its surroundings and neighbouring 
properties.’ 

 

10.16 Paragraph 135 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that planning 
decisions should ensure that developments have a high standard of amenity 
for existing and future users. 

 

10.17 No external alterations are proposed to the building or wider area as part of the 
development to change the use of the site. As such, it is not considered that the 
development would give rise to any increased impacts of overbearing, 
overshadowing or overlooking towards neighbouring properties.  

 

10.18 As part of the assessment of this application, a formal consultation was 
undertaken with KC Environmental Health. Within their consultation response, 
KC Environmental Health officers set out that, upon any grant of approval, a 
condition should be imposed regarding the submission of a noise management 
plan.  

 

10.19 Whilst this planning application seeks retrospective planning permission for the 
change of use of the site, it is considered that, upon any grant of approval, the 
submission of a noise management plan could be conditioned, such that the 
condition specifies a timeframe within which the noise management plan needs 
to be submitted following determination.  

 

10.20 Any such condition would need to state that, within the timeframe set out in the 
condition, a noise management plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The condition would also set out that 
the noise management plan shall detail the control measures that will be taken 
to ensure that excessive noise does not arise from the deliveries/dispatches 
and the actions that will be taken to prevent a loss of amenity. The condition 
would also require that the approved noise management plan be implemented 
before use commences and retained thereafter.  

 

10.21 In addition, a condition restricting the hours of use is also recommended. The 
recommended restrictions would be that the use would not be open for 
Customers, Deliveries and Dispatches outside the hours of 0800hrs to 1800hrs 
Monday to Saturday and 1000hrs to 1600hrs Sunday and Bank Holidays.  

 

10.22 Weight is afforded to the realistic fall back for use of the site to be undertaken 
for a use falling within use class B2, potentially over a longer period of time 
each day. Taking account of this and with the inclusion of the aforementioned 
conditions, it is considered that the proposal would appropriately comply with 
the requirements of Policy LP24 and LP52 of the Kirklees Local Plan, Policy 2 
of the Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan and Chapter 12 of the 
NPPF.  

Page 15



Highway issues 
 

10.23 Policies LP21 and LP22 of the Kirklees Local Plan relate to access and highway 
safety and are considered to be relevant to the consideration of this application. 
The Council’s adopted Highways Design Guide SPD, which seeks to ensure 
acceptable levels of off-street parking, is also relevant. 

 
10.24 This application seeks approval to the change of use from general industry B2 

to storage and distribution B8 at Z A Enterprises Ltd, 4, Marsh Gardens, Honley, 
Holmfirth. 

 
10.25 Within the covering letter submitted as part of this application the following is 

set out:  
 
‘This is a retrospective application. The site was previously an engineering 
business and then it was used as a bakery. It is now used by a business that 
sells household goods through the internet. Goods are delivered to the 
premises by wagons that visit the site two or three times a week, and then 
goods are delivered to the customers with five or six courier vans leaving the 
premises per day. The site has its own customer parking and a delivery bay to 
the front of the building.’  

 
10.26 The application form sets out that there are 12 off-street parking spaces and 2 

HGV parking spaces and 10 full time employees.  
 
10.27 As part of the processing of this application, a formal consultation was 

undertaken with KC Highways Development Management.  
 
10.28 Given the relatively low traffic generation quoted by the applicants, KC 

Highways Development Management confirmed, within their initial response, 
that they had no objection to the proposals in principle. However, they did 
conclude that the application as submitted provided insufficient information to 
allow a proper highway assessment to be undertaken and requested that the 
following be submitted:  

 

 Vehicle swept paths should be provided to demonstrate that the largest 
vehicle anticipated to visit the site (16.5m articulated lorry) can enter and exit 
and turn within the site.  

 

 A plan showing the layout of the proposed parking areas should be provided.  
 

10.29 As a result, the applicant provided an Access Statement prepared by Paragon 
Highways which includes vehicle swept paths for a 7.170 m long vehicle and 
shows 10 proposed employee parking spaces are not affected by the vehicle 
turning movements. This plan demonstrates how parking can be achieved and 
turning areas provided.  

 

10.30 The further information was considered acceptable to Highway Development 
Management providing the applicants are prepared to accept a condition 
restricting the size of delivery vehicles to that shown on the vehicle tracking 
swept paths plan or a 3500 kg light goods vehicle.  

 

10.31 The applicants’ agent was subsequently contacted, in relation to the 
recommended condition, and that any permission would need to be bound by 
the constraints of a condition which requires that the vehicle weight for all 
vehicles associated with the use of the site for collection and deliveries does 
not exceed 3500kg.  

Page 16



10.32 Within an email dated 18th June 2025, the applicants confirmed agreement to 
such a condition being included upon any grant of permission. In addition, to 
ensure that the turning and parking areas remain unaffected, it is recommended 
that a condition be included upon any grant of permission requiring no external 
storage takes place. A further condition is also recommended to be attached 
requiring the marking out of the parking and turning areas outlined on the 
submitted drawing titled ‘Srigid & sdv vehicle tracking and parking’ (ref 
0001RevA).  

 
10.33 On the basis of the inclusion of the recommended conditions it is considered 

the impact of the change of use is not significantly greater than that of the lawful 
use of the site which can take place in any event and the proposal would 
appropriately accord with the aforementioned policies.  

 
 Other Matters 
 

Climate Change: 
 
10.34 On 12th November 2019, the Council adopted a target for achieving ‘net zero’ 

carbon emissions by 2038, with an accompanying carbon budget set by the 
Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research. National Planning Policy 
includes a requirement to promote carbon reduction and enhance resilience to 
climate change through the planning system and these principles have been 
incorporated into the formulation of Local Plan policies. The Local Plan 
predates the declaration of a climate emergency and the net zero carbon 
target. However, it includes a series of policies, which are used to assess the 
suitability of planning applications in the context of climate change. When 
determining planning applications, the Council will use the relevant Local Plan 
policies and guidance documents to embed the climate change agenda.  

 
10.35 The proposal is for the change of use of an existing building. As part of the 

submission, a Climate Change Statement was included, which sets out various 
mitigation measures including low energy lighting and maximising thermal 
insulation levels in external walls, floor and roof wherever possible.  

 

10.36 Considering that the proposal is for the change of use of an existing building, it 
is considered that the proposed development would not have an impact on 
climate change that needs any further mitigation to address the climate change 
emergency. The proposed development would therefore comply with Chapter 
14 of the NPPF, Policy LP51 of the Kirklees Local Plan and Policy 12 of the 
Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan.  

 

Strategic Green Infrastructure Network: 
 

10.37 Policy LP31 of the Kirklees Local Plan identifies a number of areas which form 
part of the Strategic Green Infrastructure Network. This policy sets out that 
priority will be given to safeguarding and enhancing green infrastructure 
networks, green infrastructure assets and the range of functions they provide. 
This policy sets out that development should ensure the function and 
connectivity of green infrastructure is retained / replaced, new or enhances 
green infrastructure is provided / integrated into new developments. In addition, 
this policy requires integration of developments into walking / cycling network 
and providing new links where appropriate and the protection of biodiversity / 
ecological links. Where the creation of new or enhanced green infrastructure is 
proposed, provided it does not conflict with other policies within the Kirklees 
Local Plan policy LP31 sets out that the Council will support such development. 

Page 17



10.38 Considering that the proposal is for the change of use of an existing building, it 
is not considered to have a detrimental impact upon the strategic green 
infrastructure network, with no trees or hedgerows proposed to be removed. 
The application is therefore considered to be acceptable in this regard. 

 

Bats:  
 

10.39 Chapter 15 of the NPPF is relevant, together with The Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 which protect, by law, the habitat and animals 
of certain species including newts, bats and badgers. 

 
10.40 Policy LP30 of the Kirklees Local Plan requires that proposals protect Habitats 

and Species of Principal Importance. The application site lies within the bat alert 
layer on the Council’s GIS system. 

 
10.41 Given that this application seeks the change of use of the building, with no 

external alterations proposed, it is considered unlikely that the granting of 
permission would pose detriment to any roosting bats if present at the site.  

 
10.42 As a cautionary measure, a note would have been included on the decision 

notice, stating that if bats are found development shall cease and the advice of 
a licensed bat worked sought. This is to accord with the aims of Chapter 15 of 
the NPPF. 

 

Contaminated Land: 
 

10.43 The application site is located upon potentially contaminated land. However, 
given the nature of the development it is considered the change of use of the 
land would not have a material impact upon land quality or exposure of users 
of the site to potentially contaminated land over and above that which exists 
already.  

 

Representations  
 

10.44 In response to publicity, 11 objections and 1 letter of comment were received. 
The concerns raised within the objections are set out below, accompanied with 
an officer response.  

 

Visual Amenity / Heritage Significance:  
 

 Marsh Gardens is in the Honley Conservation Area. Granting this planning 
application goes against this concept and would turn the area into a mini-
industrial estate.  

 

10.45 Officer Response: Officers acknowledge the location of the application site, just 
outside of the boundaries of the Honley Conservation Area. However, given that 
this planning application seeks permission for the change of use of the 
application site, with no external alterations proposed, officers do not consider 
that the development would pose detrimental impacts to the heritage 
significance of the Conservation Area.  

 

Residential Amenity:  
 

 The application is requesting 7am to 7pm Monday to Friday, 7am to 2pm 
Saturday and Sunday. Marsh Gardens is a No Through Road with numerous 
residents, access to the Surgery and Honley Junior and Infant school. On the 
plan provided, the block of flats immediately in front of the property and 
alongside the access road, are occupied by senior citizens. A change to the 
proposed times would be disruptive and affect these and all residents in an 
unacceptable manner. 

 

Page 18



10.46 Officer Response: A full assessment of the impacts on residential amenity is 
set out within the corresponding section of this report.  

 
Highway Safety:  
 

 The vehicles that have been making deliveries are large HGVs and large 
Truck and Trailer container style vehicles. They can only park and offload on 
the blue lined access road, blocking the entrance to the Surgery car park. 
Furthermore, these large vehicles have great difficulty turning into and out of 
the access road and require multiple point turns, this can take several minutes 
affecting access to the Surgery car park and the Surgery itself. Residential 
walls have been hit, and a pavement anti parking bollard was destroyed and 
subsequently had to be made good by the councils Highway Dept. Marsh 
Gardens was recently resurfaced and re-kerbed. These large vehicles are 
making their mark on the road, kerbs and pavements.  

 
 The proposition to enter Bank Bottom Works is to reverse from the doctors 

surgery which is extremely narrow and then drive down the blue marked 
entrance Bank Bottom Works because of the length of the vehicles there is 
not an alternative hence creating a dangerous situation for school children, 
patients and residents. Often the large vehicles cannot make this movement 
and are using a forklift to and from the works to the vehicle which is extremely 
dangerous and blocking the whole public way. 
 

 Deliveries to the storage facility appear to be more frequent than was 
previously the case: due to the distribution of goods from the storage facility 
the departing traffic is now more likely to occur throughout the day (and will 
potentially increase) adding to the congestion in Marsh Gardens.  
 

 Large vehicles are often parked whilst arranging delivery to the storage 
facility, impeding the use of Marsh Gardens and affecting access to adjacent 
properties, including the surgery car park. Pedestrian and road traffic are also 
affected whilst large vehicles manoeuvre into the road leading to the property, 
navigating the narrow access and sharp turns involved.  
 

 Access for emergency and other services may be affected due to the 
presence of a large delivery vehicle, either parked whilst arranging assistance 
or manoeuvring to reach the storage facility. We have emergency ambulances 
regularly coming to the Surgery.  
 

 A vehicle over the weight as outlined in the Highways response of 28th May 
accessed the site recently.  
 

10.47 Officer Response: A full assessment of the impacts on highway safety is set out 
within the ‘Highways Issues’ of this report.  

 

Address:  
 

 Covering letter and application form indicated that it is Propermaid Ltd which 
is making the application for change of use. According to Companies House 
records, this company has ceased trading and was dissolved in 2019.  

 

10.48 Officer Response: The planning agent requested a change of address during 
the course of the application. Upon original submission, the site was given the 
address: Propermaid Ltd, however, the agent confirmed that this was the 
previous tenant on the site and was an error on their part. The address was 
subsequently changed to Z A Enterprises Ltd.  

 
 Fence has been hit by vehicles accessing the site.  

Page 19



 
10.50 Officer Response: Damage caused by vehicles accessing the site is not a 

material planning matter and would be a civil matter between the relevant 
parties. The impact of the proposal as a result of vehicles accessing the site, 
and the size of vehicles, is addressed in the ‘Highway Issues’ section of this 
report.   

  
Publicity:  
 

 There is not a notice on Marsh Gardens or surrounding roads and only two of 
the flats in Marsh Court were sent letters.  

 
10.49 Officer Response: The application was publicised in accordance with the 

Council’s Development Management Charter applicable at the time of publicity.  
 
11.0 CONCLUSION 

11.1 This application has been assessed against relevant policies in the 
development plan as listed in the policy section of the report, the National 
Planning Policy Framework and other material considerations.  

 
11.2 The National Planning Policy Framework has introduced a presumption in 

favour of sustainable development. The policies set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework taken as a whole constitute the Government’s view of what 
sustainable development means in practice. 

 
11.3 It is considered that the development proposals accord with the development 

plan when assessed against policies in the National Planning Policy Framework 
and other material considerations. 

 

12.0 CONDITIONS (Summary list. Full wording of conditions including any 
amendments/additions to be delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Development) 

 
1.  Development be undertaken in accordance with the submitted details.  

 
2. Restriction that the use is storage and distribution and any offices are 
ancillary to that use.  

 
3. Hours of use are not permitted for customers, deliveries and dispatches 
outside the hours of:  

 
- 0800hrs to 1800hrs Monday to Saturday 
- 1000hrs to 1600hrs Sunday and Bank Holidays 

 
4. Noise Management Plan shall be submitted to, and approved by, the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 
5. No vehicle shall access the site in association with the use hereby 
approved that exceeds 3500kg.  

 
6. There shall be no external storage within the area outlined in red upon 
drawing (100)01 titled ‘Site Plan’.  
 

Page 20



7.  All vehicular parking and turning areas shown on submitted plan titled 
‘Srigid & sdv vehicle tracking and parking’ (ref: 0001revA) be marked out, 
provided and thereafter retained.  

 
FOOTNOTE: Bats 

 
Background Papers: 
 
Application and history files. 
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-

applications/detail.aspx?id=2023%2f92023 
 
Certificate of Ownership – Notice served on/ or Certificate A signed. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 21

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2023%2f92023
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2023%2f92023


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying
	8 Planning Applications
	9 Planning Application - Application No: 2023/92023
	Subject: Planning Application 2023/92023 Change of use from general industry B2 to storage and distribution B8 Z A Enterprises Ltd, 4, Marsh Gardens, Honley, Holmfirth, HD9 6AP


